
 

 

 
 

 
 

     

        

  

 

 
 

    
   

  
  

   
 

 
 

   
  

  
  
  

  
 

   
 

      

     

     

     

 

 

  
 

     

    

   

 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
WILDBLUE 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

The Board of Supervisors of the WildBlue Community Development District held a Regular 

Meeting on June 5, 2025 at 10:00 a.m., at the Community Center (Card Room), 18721 WildBlue 

Blvd., Fort Myers, Florida 33913. 

Present: 

John Buchholz (via telephone) Chair 
Rick Bennington Vice Chair 
Chris Hasty Assistant Secretary 
Herb Lanese Assistant Secretary 
Denis Bourque (via telephone) Assistant Secretary 

Also present: 

Chuck Adams District Manager 
Shane Willis Operations Manager 
Wes Haber (via telephone) District Counsel 
Carl Barraco District Engineer 
Frank Savage Barraco and Associates, Inc. 
Andrew Nethalm Fishing Club 

Residents present: (in person / via phone) 

Mary Lanese Tom Oliveri Kathleen O’Connor Other Residents 

The names of all attendees, residents and/or members of the public are not included in 

these meeting minutes. If the person did not identify themselves, their name was inaudible or 

their name did not appear in the meeting notes or on an attendee sign in sheet, the name was 

not listed. 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS Call to Order/Roll Call 

Mr. Adams called the meeting to order at 10:00 a.m. 

Supervisors Bennington, Hasty and Lanese were present. Supervisors Buchholz and 

Bourque attended via telephone. 

1 



    

 

  
 

 
    

     

   

      

     

   

     

      

   

    

    

   

      

   

      

      

    

     

   

    

 

     

     

    

   

  

      

WILDBLUE CDD June 5, 2025 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS Public Comments: Agenda Items (3 Minutes 
Per Speaker) 

Mr. Bennington stated that Latitude Lakes will be addressed during Staff Reports. 

Resident Mary Lanese discussed an issue raised at an amenities meeting involving 

teenagers fishing on a resident’s private dock, which raised the issue of private versus CDD land 

and residents’ understanding that docks are private property. She asked for the matter to be 

clarified for the record. Mr. Bennington stated that docks are on CDD easement property; private 

docks are private property. He asked Mr. Adams if anything in terms of use of CDD land, such as 

homeowners installing walks or fences, falls under the Master Association to manage. Mr. Adams 

stated the Master Association is in a better position to manage this due to rights vested in the 

plat language and the Covenants, Conditions & Restrictions (CC&Rs). 

Mr. Bennington noted the need to educate the community about where fishing is 

allowed, what areas of the amenities are fishable, and what is common land on the lakes, such 

as small areas with benches. Property owners are permitted to fish behind their own homes and 

on their own property; however, access behind residences is restricted to those property owners 

only. Those going across are trespassing, even though it is CDD property. 

Asked if an easement is granted as part of the process when approving the application to 

install a private dock, Mr. Bennington replied affirmatively. The Master Association manages the 

process; the builders allowed it and, due to grandfathering, there are fences, walks and 

landscaping on CDD property. As noted before, these might be disturbed due to the CDD’s project 

and obstructions will be removed and replaced at the homeowners’ expense. 

Mr. Haber agreed that the Master Association is in the best position for enforcement and 

noted that the CDD is ultimately responsible for management of the stormwater system. In many 

other CDDs with similar setups, requests are submitted to the CDD first for the District Engineer’s 

review and approval before the request is submitted to the Master Association for final approval. 

Mr. Buchholz questioned whether any fences should be permitted on CDD property. Mr. 

Adams stated that the Developer Board allowed some fences, with access gates, and a Letter of 

Consent (LOC) from the permitting entity. 

Mr. Haber stated that there are other instances in which the CDD can enter into a License 

Agreement to allow homeowners to install a fence, with the understanding that the CDD’s use of 

2 



    

 

       

     

  

     

   

   

 

        

     

   

    

     

   

  

     

   

    

     

   

    

        

     

       

      

      

       

    

       

      

   

WILDBLUE CDD June 5, 2025 

the property has first priority. The Agreement is recorded against the property so that future 

buyers are aware of the CDD’s authority. The CDD also has the right to refuse the request. 

Mr. Adams stated that the LOC stipulates that the fence approval is at the property 

owners’ risk and expense, as the CDD can remove the fence at any time to perform necessary 

work for stormwater management, and the property owner is responsible for reinstallation. 

Resident Kathleen O’Connor recalled Mr. Bennington indicating that homeowners have 

exclusive access to the lake to fish on their own property and asked whether other people or 

individuals can walk around the lake on the CDD easement, or are those areas also for the 

exclusive access of those homeowners. Mr. Bennington stated the use of the easement is limited 

to CDD personnel and vendors; no public access is allowed. Mr. Willis stated the Lake 

Maintenance Easement (LME) is narrowly defined for maintenance purposes only; however, 

those areas are still private property. Mr. Hasty noted that the LME is on the private property, 

but that does not extend to the water’s edge; the lake tract has land within it. He believes the 

question is whether CDD residents can walk around the lake on CDD property. 

Mr. Haber stated the CDD has the right to determine how lake tracts will be used; vacant 

lake tracts can be designated as appropriate for community fishing and lake tracts with 

residences can be designated as not appropriate for community fishing. 

Mr. Willis stated that Mr. Adams has pointed out that, in other communities, enforcement 

is left to the Master Association. 

Mr. Adams was asked to formally delegate enforcement within the lake tract to the 

Master Association. Mr. Adams stated that he will review the CC&Rs and proceed accordingly. 

Mr. Bennington asked for the fishing map to be published. 

Ms. O’Connor asked Mr. Buchholz if the complaint Mr. Paul Daly filed against him with 

the Florida Commission on Ethics was dismissed. Mr. Buchholz stated, the same as with Mr. 

Bennington, he received the same dismissal; all allegations were dismissed. Ms. O’Connor stated 

that the Master Association published the Order at Mr. Bennington’s request. 

Ms. O’Connor asked for the outcome of discussion during the Shade Session and whether 

Mr. Hasty participated . Mr. Hasty stated he did not participate, as he did not attend the meeting. 

Ms. O’Connor thanked Mr. Hasty and asked if his intention is to not participate in matters related 

to the litigation. Mr. Hasty replied affirmatively. 

3 



    

 

  

    

        

        

        

      

      

       

   

  

  

   

    

       

    

       

  

     

      

       

   

      

   

    

       

    

 

  
 

  

      

        

WILDBLUE CDD June 5, 2025 

Ms. O’Connor voiced her opinion that the “Special litigation counsel” line item of $50,000 

in the proposed Fiscal Year 2026 budget might be insufficient. 

Mr. Andrew Nethalm, of the Fishing Club, stated he submitted proposals for a biologist to 

monitor the lakes and for lake vegetation treatments. Mr. Adams stated the CDD’s position is 

that those are recreational functions to be addressed by the Amenities HOA. The CDD previously 

installed vegetation to help the water quality but most vegetation the CDD will install will be 

around the lake perimeters, such as littorals, once lake bank restoration projects are completed. 

Discussion ensued regarding installing Christmas trees in the lake to provide fish habitat. 

Mr. Adams stated, if an analysis provided by a fishery can demonstrate the water’s 

current health versus in prior years and the biodiversity of the current fish, bait fish versus adults, 

etc., the CDD Board can determine to what extent it can participate. 

Relevant information will be emailed to Mr. Adams for dissemination to the Board. 

Mr. Hasty stated the CDD is responsible for the water quality. He suggested the Fishing 

Club do the research and seek the Amenity HOA’s approval for their proposal and then present 

an approved proposal to the CDD. The CDD does not govern recreational activities on the lake, 

so the work needs to be sponsored and funded by the Amenity HOA. Mr. Adams noted that the 

CDD will consider the portions related to water quality in light of the CDD’s stormwater permit. 

In response to a question about fencing, Mr. Willis stated the contractor was rescheduled 

by a week due to interference by a resident. A contract was signed a few days ago; the fence will 

be repaired in about one week. Future requests related to broken fences can be sent to Mr. Willis. 

In response to a Blue Sapphire resident’s question, it was noted that the Master 

Association is responsible for sidewalk cracks, curbs, etc., repairs when addressing deficiencies. 

He suggested forwarding the address and information to Karen to ensure issues are noted. 

Resident Tom Oliveri of Blue Sapphire asked what is being done to address erosion 

affecting properties whose easement is gone due to boat traffic, etc. It was noted that this will 

be addressed during Mr. Savage’s updates. 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS Updates 

A. Lake Bank Erosion Repair Project 

Referencing a map handout, Mr. Savage discussed the erosion conditions. The initial 

restoration was focused on localized erosion and washouts. Currently, it appears that 22 active 

4 



    

 

     

  

      

   

        

  

   

    

      

   

       

    

      

  

        

  

   

     

    

         

       

  

     

     

      

   

   

       

    

      

      

WILDBLUE CDD June 5, 2025 

localized washouts remain, but there is quite a bit of drain erosion. Localized erosion was 

determined to be the CDD’s responsibility; all the work completed by the CDD is denoted. The 

remaining area of about two miles of “non-compliant” erosion, measuring 9” or greater in depth 

which are inconsistent with permitting conditions, are recommended for remediation soon. 

Approximately three miles of “forming” erosion, measuring 6” to 9” in depth were identified. 

Together, approximately 2,500 linear feet of erosion conditions span these lakes. All the linear 

erosion is recognized as an ongoing maintenance obligation of the CDD, so his firm’s 

recommendation is that the scope of these erosion repairs would be considered within the 

refinancing to be done in conjunction with parallel projects for the recreational lakes, based upon 

these plans and the active entitlements already in place. An active Lee County LDO is approved 

and valid; therefore, once funding is available, his firm recommends the non-compliant erosion 

be addressed, followed by the forming erosion, if funding allows. 

Mr. Barraco discussed the importance of performing the work during dry season. As the 

rainy season begins, runoff and sheet flow is impacting unprotected soil. He suggested enacting 

“Slow Boating” Zones or “No Wake” Zones in those areas where boat wake is impacting 

shorelines, particularly until retaining walls are repaired. 

Mr. Lanese asked how residents will be reimbursed for spending their own money to 

protect their properties, given the duration of the litigation, and if it is the CDD’s responsibility. 

Mr. Adams stated the CDD has not taken a position on that yet. Mr. Bennington stated that, while 

he is not aware of any homeowners paying to restore their property, he is aware of a CDD 

easement that eroded away and of one resident’s easement that is eroded right up to the 

property line. Confusion exists because properties are not surveyed and clearly laid out with 

stakes to indicate which property belongs to the CDD. 

Mr. Oliveri stated that his property was staked out and his easement is completely gone; 

he believes erosion is affecting his property. Mr. Bennington stated that the CDD’s position is 

that anything eroded on the Landowner’s side will be restored by the CDD. 

Mr. Lanese asked about reimbursing homeowners for personal costs incurred in an effort 

to protect their property from further erosion. Mr. Haber does not believe there is a single 

answer regarding reimbursement. As noted, the CDD will be responsible for repairing CDD 

property. It is unclear whether there is an obligation for the CDD to reimburse anyone who spent 

money to shore up CDD property for perceived future erosion losses. He thinks part of this will 

5 



    

 

   

      

  

       

     

    

 

  

     

      

    

     

 

   

   

      

      

         

       

  

   

  

     

    

     

   

      

     

       

    

WILDBLUE CDD June 5, 2025 

be determined on a case-by-case basis and he is reluctant to advise a blanket statement regarding 

how the CDD will respond, due to the unknown factors of each property. He thinks it fair to say 

that the CDD and the Board will make every effort to fix these issues as quickly and fairly as 

possible but he does not recommend the CDD or Board making blanket statement now. 

Mr. Oliveri thinks that is a fair comment and stated he thinks that many homeowners 

have not engaged legal counsel to avoid being combative and incurring legal costs on both sides. 

He asked how both sides can collaborate to address those concerns cost effectively. Mr. Haber 

stated that the issues can be addressed on a case-by-case basis. Regarding litigation, he believes 

that the homeowners would bear the cost of their own legal expenses. He thinks the Board is 

trying to meet its obligations relating to ensuring effective stormwater management and looking 

out for the best interests of the community. While it is each homeowner’s right to retain counsel, 

it makes sense for homeowners to bring their concerns to the Board. 

Discussion ensued regarding a berm created between residences, the CDD’s obligation to 

abide by the scope of work of the emergency work order, making cost-effective repairs, avoiding 

combativeness and preventing further erosion during the repair process. 

Mr. Buchholz discussed the recent restoration of 20’ of property and protect homes and 

the need to understand the scope of the needed wall repairs. He offered to meet with residents 

to take pictures and document the damage and stated that Staff will determine if it might be 

possible to install additional soil at the most vulnerable properties before hurricane season. 

Mr. Oliveri voiced his appreciation for how Mr. Buchholz, Mr. Bennington and others have 

addressed resident concerns and brought the community together into a collaborative effort. 

Mr. Buchholz appreciated that and thanked residents for their patience. 

Mr. Savage noted that, in contrast to the discussion of the retaining wall, the map of the 

surface water management lakes relates to the more conventional linear erosion that is now 

well-quantified. The majority of localized erosion is abated; the recommendation is to include 

the Phase 1 Rec Lake Restoration Schedule in the updated Engineer’s Report for inclusion in the 

Methodology to be used for the refinancing so that, with Board direction, erosion repairs can be 

done during the upcoming dry season. Additional localized erosion could then be addressed as 

they arise. A parallel effort is underway to work with residents to install secondary drainage on 

private property; he is coordinating those efforts with Mr. Willis. 

6 



    

 

 

      

      

    

   

    

       

    

     

   

 

       

  

     

  

     

     

 

    

      

 

     

    

    

     

   

    

   

     

    

    

WILDBLUE CDD June 5, 2025 

Discussion ensued regarding remediations to be done, including restoration of the 6:1 

slope and installation of coco mat material and sod to the control level or the waterline as a 

baseline, with the ability to address localized areas of erosion as they arise. 

Mr. Willis stated that a Request for Proposals (RFP) will be published. Each bidder would 

likely propose different options from which the Board can choose. 

Mr. Barraco discussed the differences between localized erosion, which can be corrected 

because the source is gutters, sprinklers, etc., so it is located and addressed; and linear erosion, 

which is due to wave action. Linear erosion can be addressed with littoral plantings, which 

dissipate wave energy and provide water quality benefits. 

Mr. Willis stated that proposals will typically include littoral plantings and sod installation. 

It was noted that residents should not remove littoral plants. 

Mr. Bennington asked Mr. Adams to include this work in the bond considerations. 

B. Retaining Wall Restoration 

Mr. Savage distributed and reviewed the Phase 1 Restoration Timeline. Due to a 

misunderstanding, the soonest the bid can be published is likely early August. The 60% plans 

were circulated and reviewed; the 90% plans should be completed by early July, after which the 

Project Manual and Bid Documents will be prepared. Bids might be received in early September 

and the contract might be awarded in October. 

The Board and Staff discussed the sealed bid process, Evaluation Criteria and the Board’s 

ability to award a contract to any of the proposers, not just the lowest bidder. 

Mr. Haber noted that the published Evaluation Criteria must be used when evaluating and 

scoring the proposals and it cannot be switched after the proposals are received. 

Discussion ensued regarding whether to offer or require a pre-bid conference; the 

prohibition against communicating with one proposer over another, which could result in an 

unfair advantage; and the process whereby an Addenda can be used to gather additional 

information from all proposers. 

Mr. Savage stated, while a contract cannot actually be awarded until financing is in place, 

the RFP process can commence, in anticipation of financing. Similarly, entitlements must be in 

place before the contract is awarded. The Engineer’s Report will be updated based on the 90% 

plans; much of the scope will be the same but prices will be refined. Phase 2 of the recreational 

lake is not included in this scope, as Mr. Cheifet has not started the Phase 2 design work. 

7 



    

 

     

   

  

     

     

  

    

 

  

        

      

    

    

      

   

     

 

  
 
 

  
  
  

 
 

 
     

    

  

   

      

    

    

   

WILDBLUE CDD June 5, 2025 

Mr. Barraco stated that good feedback was received during preliminary meetings with 

the County and the South Florida Water Management District (SFWMD). The schedule is subject 

to change and riprap is subject to availability. 

Staff will work together to include additional milestones related to advertising, Bid 

Opening, Board approvals, etc., into the timeline. Mr. Buchholz stated the timeline represents 

the first updates; a meeting is scheduled with Mr. Cheifet and Taylor in June so that adjustments 

to the drawings can be made based on the Taylor report. 

Mr. Barraco and Mr. Savage left the meeting. 

C. Fuel Station Site 

Mr. Buchholz stated he is not happy with the legalese in the Developer Team’s paperwork; 

he asked the Legal Team to review it and advise. He thinks the Developer is challenging the CDD 

although they agreed to what the CDD asked for at the meeting before the judge. 

Mr. Adams stated, in general terms, the Developer has taken issue with standing on some 

of the items. Kevin and the Legal Team are addressing those within the 20-day deadline in order 

to prevent opposing counsel from filing a motion to dismiss. Clearly, the entire complaint cannot 

be taken issue with; a thorough, timely response will be submitted. 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Resolution 2025-07, 
Approving a Proposed Budget for Fiscal 
Year 2025/2026 and Setting a Public 
Hearing Thereon Pursuant to Florida Law; 
Addressing Transmittal, Posting and 
Publication Requirements; Addressing 
Severability; and Providing an Effective 
Date 

Mr. Adams presented Resolution 2025-07. He reviewed the proposed Fiscal Year 2026 

budget, including line item increases, decreases and adjustments compared to the Fiscal Year 

2025 budget and explained the reasons for any changes. The $3 million 2025 Note proceeds 

reflected in “OTHER FINANCING SOURCES/(USES)” offsets the $2.5 million for “Shoreline/seawall 

repair and replacements” and the additional Engineering expenses primarily related to the 

retaining wall. The loan was closed successfully, and the $300,000 note taken out last summer 

for the first phase of the lake bank erosion repairs was also taken out. As noted in the Unaudited 

Financials, approximately $430,000 in Engineering costs were prepaid over the past two years. 

8 



    

 

  

      

    

   

    

    

      

    

 

  

    

  

   

       

     

     

   

  

 

   
  

  
 

  
   

 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

WILDBLUE CDD June 5, 2025 

The Operation & Maintenance (O&M) assessment is projected to increase approximately $218 

per unit, year-over-year. Mailed Notices will be sent to property owners. 

It was noted that the maximum proposed assessment amount will be determined today; 

the budget and the assessment amount can be revised further at or before the public hearing. 

Discussion ensued regarding the Lake Bank Erosion Repair Project; bond issuance; and 

on-roll assessments, which are listed in the Non-Ad Valorem section of the property tax bill. 

Mr. Hasty suggested increasing the “Supervisors” line item. Mr. Adams stated that $6,000 

will fund seven meetings with four Board Members. Mr. Adams will increase the “Supervisors” 

line item to $20,000. 

Mr. Hasty, who also serves on the Vista Blue Board, noted that the subject of whether to 

file litigation and how much to budget was raised and suggested this be considered. 

Discussion ensued regarding the litigation process, associated costs, sharing Litigation 

Counsel, assessments, and use of bond proceeds for CDD repairs. 

Mr. Adams noted that increasing “Special counsel” to $200,000 will increase the O&M 

assessment to approximately $472 more than the Fiscal Year 2025 assessment. 

The following changes were made to the proposed Fiscal Year 2026 budget: 

Page 1, “Supervisors”: Increase to “20,000” 

Page 1, “Special Counsel”: Increase to “200,000” 

On MOTION by Mr. Hasty and seconded by Mr. Bennington, with all in favor, 
2025-07, Approving a Proposed Budget for Fiscal Year 2025/2026, as amended, 
and Setting a Public Hearing Thereon Pursuant to Florida Law on August 7, 2025 
at 10:00 a.m., at the Community Center (Card Room), 18721 WildBlue Blvd., Fort 
Myers, Florida 33913; Addressing Transmittal, Posting and Publication 
Requirements; Addressing Severability; and Providing an Effective Date, was 
adopted. 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Resolution 2025-08, 
Designating Dates, Times and Locations for 
Regular Meetings of the Board of 
Supervisors of the District for Fiscal Year 
2025/2026 and Providing for an Effective 
Date 

Mr. Adams presented Resolution 2025-08. 

9 



    

  

    

 

    

   

        

    

     

           

  

 

     
  

  
  

  
 

  
  

 
  

 

  

 

    
  

  
 
 

     
   

 
    

   

  

 
 

  
 

WILDBLUE CDD June 5, 2025 

The consensus was to schedule meetings on the first and third Thursdays of each month 

and to cancel any unnecessary meetings. 

The following will be inserted into the Fiscal Year 2026 Meeting Schedule: 

REGULAR MEETING DATES: October 2, 2025; November 6, 2025; December 4, 2025; 

January 15, 2026; February 5, 2026; March 5, 2026; April 2, 2026; May 7, 2026; June 4, 2026; July 

2, 2026; August 6, 2026; and September 3, 2026 

SPECIAL MEETING DATES: October 16, 2025; November 20, 2025; December 18, 2025; 

February 19, 2026; March 19, 2026; April 16, 2026; May 21, 2026; June 18, 2026; July 16, 2026; 

August 20, 2026; and September 17, 2026 

On MOTION by Mr. Lanese and seconded by Mr. Hasty, with all in favor, 
Resolution 2025-08, Designating Dates, Times and Locations for Regular 
Meetings of the Board of Supervisors of the District for Fiscal Year 2025/2026, 
as amended, and Providing for an Effective Date, was adopted. 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Resolution 2025-09, 
Approving the Florida Statewide Mutual 
Aid Agreement; Providing for Severability; 
and Providing for an Effective Date 

Mr. Adams presented Resolution 2025-09. 

On MOTION by Mr. Lanese and seconded by Mr. Bennington, with all in favor, 
Resolution 2025-09, Approving the Florida Statewide Mutual Aid Agreement; 
Providing for Severability; and Providing for an Effective Date, was adopted. 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Acceptance of Unaudited Financial 
Statements as of April 30, 2025 

Mr. Adams presented the Unaudited Financial Statements as of April 30, 2025, and 

responded to questions regarding inclusion of emergency repairs in the budget. 

The financials were accepted. 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Approval of Minutes 

10 



    

  

   

 
  

 
 

   

   
  

 
 

  
 

  

   

 

    

   

   

      

     

     

    

      

     

   

      

     

 

   

 

   

    

  

WILDBLUE CDD June 5, 2025 

A. April 17, 2025 Special Meeting 

On MOTION by Mr. Bennington and seconded by Mr. Lanese, with all in favor, 
the April 3, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes, as presented, were approved. 

B. May 1, 2025 Regular Meeting 

On MOTION by Mr. Bennington and seconded by Mr. Lanese, with all in favor, 
the May 1, 2025 Regular Meeting Minutes, as presented, were approved. 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Staff Reports 

A. District Counsel: Kutak Rock LLP 

• Continued Discussion/Update: Construction Litigation Regarding Retaining Wall 

Repairs 

Mr. Haber stated, as discussed at the last meeting, Litigation Counsel suggested 

scheduling Shade Sessions on a more routine basis. The law requires that Counsel request a 

Shade Session. Mr. Haber proposed scheduling it immediately before the next Board meeting. 

He noted that Litigation Counsel was unsure of their availability on July 3, 2025. 

Discussion ensued regarding holding the Shade Session on July 3, 2025 or July 17, 2025. 

Staff will determine if the Shade Session can be held on June 19, 2025 at 10:00 a.m., to 

be followed by the regular meeting. 

Mr. Bennington stated the latest he heard was that the mediator agreed upon by both 

Lennar and Litigation Counsel is not available until early November 2025. 

Discussion ensued regarding court dates, mediation dates, Mr. Hasty’s request on behalf 

of Vista Blue to have an off-the-record meeting, designation of Mr. Bello as a representative, 

Vista Blue’s mediation scheduled in November 2025, potential for mediation to fail and the 

possibility of securing an earlier mediation date with a different mediator. 

B. District Engineer: Barraco and Associates, Inc. 

There was no report. 

C. District Manager: Wrathell, Hunt and Associates, LLC 

• NEXT MEETING DATE: July 3, 2025 at 10:00 AM 

o QUORUM CHECK 

11 



    

  

   

  

   

 

 

  
 

      

      

 

     

 

        

      

   

   

     

    

   

     

  

    

    

    

      

  

   

  

   

   

      

   

WILDBLUE CDD June 5, 2025 

The next meeting will be on June 19, 2025, instead of on July 3, 2025 at 10:00 a.m.; it is 

hoped that a Shade Session will occur immediately before the meeting. 

Supervisors Lanese, Buchholz and Bennington confirmed their attendance at the June 19, 

2025 meeting. 

TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Board Members’ Comments/Requests 

Mr. Bourque discussed boats on the lake that are causing wakes, which he believes are 

terribly detrimental to the shoreline. He suggested a restriction be enacted, at least for the 

immediate future. Mr. Adams stated that should be brought to the attention of the Amenities 

Board; he thinks that is addressed in the boat management plan. It was noted that the Master 

Covenants list restrictions on horsepower and length of the boats. 

Mr. Bennington voiced his opinion that an Engineer should provide opinions on ongoing 

boating and the results of wave action against the areas to be repaired. The original report 

indicated that the wall was not designed to withstand repeated wave action. He would like to 

know if the hardening and the alternatives will withstand those conditions. He believes that Mr. 

Bourque’s point is that the boats in question are outside of the approved specifications. 

Mr. Bourque stated he observed a 500-horsepower wake boat, and the limit is 250 

horsepower. He stated some owners claimed that the engines were “de-tuned” so the same 

engine will be within the 250-horsepower limit. The consensus was to follow up on this. 

Mr. Willis stated that numerous calls and concerns were received regarding the aeration 

system and the appearance of the Latitude Lake stormwater pond. That stormwater pond is very 

shallow; when water levels decrease it allows greater concentrations of sunlight to reach the 

submerged vegetation, which promotes their growth. SOLitude has been treating the pond with 

the aquatic herbicide Sonar® to get the vegetation under control. While the plants breaking 

through are beneficial and not invasive, excessive vegetation will be removed. The lake banks 

were treated to remove invasive species. 

Mr. Willis stated that a snake shedding in one of the aeration boxes caused the 

compressors to overheat and the aerator to malfunction. The new aeration manager will submit 

a repair versus replacement cost proposal. It appears that the compressors were installed in 

2018, so it will likely be replaced. He estimated that upon approval, the system can be operational 

within one week. Going forward, the aeration technician will complete a weekly checklist. 

12 



    

  

   

     

    

 

  

    

     

    

 

    
 

 
    

     

   

    

 

  

       

       

 

    

        

       

  

   

   

 

   
 

  
  

WILDBLUE CDD June 5, 2025 

Mr. Lanese asked if a light can be installed to indicate when equipment malfunctions. Mr. 

Willis stated that each compressor runs numerous aerators. The problem is that the air-cooling 

fan in the cabinet was broken, which allowed compressors to overheat. The compressors are 

checked quarterly. 

Discussion ensued regarding whether the technician was negligent, how long the 

compressors were out of service, how quickly the water evaporated, etc. 

Mr. Willis stated the effects of the herbicide will begin to show in a week to ten days. Mr. 

Adams stated that it can take 30 to 60 days for the vegetation to die off. 

ELEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Public Comments Non-Agenda Items (3 
Minutes Per Speaker) 

Ms. O’Connor stated that she frequently sees the wake boats mentioned by Mr. Bourque 

on the north end, very close to the shoreline. Regarding the litigation, she feels that one of the 

critical components to the mediation is the final number, so in accelerating the mediation 

schedule, the final number should be known. She suggested that Mr. Willis or a Staff member 

walk the critical areas of the lake on a regular basis, given the vulnerability of those areas. Mr. 

Willis stated that they will walk the areas more often. 

A Resident stated that, in addition to the wake boats, multiple jet skis frequently circle 

behind her house at high speed on the weekends. It was noted that the Amenity will be contacted 

regarding clarification and enforcement. 

It was noted that enforcement is needed. Unregistered boats have been observed; the 

Master Association has control of the docks and the Master Association is responsible for this. 

Mr. Buchholz asked for residents to take video of the boats and the resulting wave action 

so that documentation can be provided to the Board. 

Discussion ensued regarding mandating all boats enter through the front gate, refusing 

entry to unregistered boats and large wakes observed. 

TWELFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Adjournment 

On MOTION by Mr. Bennington and seconded by Mr. Lanese, with all in favor, 
the meeting adjourned at 12:45 p.m. 

13 




	MINUTES OF MEETING
	WILDBLUE
	COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
	ELEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Public Comments Non-Agenda Items (3 Minutes Per Speaker)
	___________________________ ____________________________



